
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA 

__________________________________________ 
       ) 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,  ) 
       )  
    Plaintiff,  ) 
       )   
 v.      )  
       )  
SHELL OFFSHORE INC.,    )  
       )  
    Defendant.  )  
__________________________________________)  

 
 

COMPLAINT 
 

 The United States of America, acting at the request of the United States Coast Guard, 

files this Complaint and alleges as follows: 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This is a civil action brought against Defendant Shell Offshore Inc. (“Shell”) for 

penalties and injunctive relief under Section 311 of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1321, to 

address Shell’s crude oil spill that occurred at its Green Canyon Block 248 subsea oil production 

facility in the Gulf of Mexico in May 2016. Beginning on May 11, 2016, one of Shell’s transfer 

pipelines on the sea floor that connects a subsea well to Shell’s Green Canyon Block 248 oil 

production system cracked and discharged approximately 1,900 barrels of oil into the Gulf of 

Mexico. Oil polluted portions of the Gulf from the sea floor to the water’s surface and spread 

across a surface area totaling over 1,270 square miles.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Section 311(b)(7)(E) and 

(n) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(b) and (n); Section 311(e)(2) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C.  
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§ 1321(e)(2); and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345, and 1355. 

3. Authority to bring this action on behalf of the United States is vested in the 

United States Department of Justice by, inter alia, 28 U.S.C. §§ 516, 519.  

4. Venue is proper in the Eastern District of Louisiana pursuant to Section 

311(b)(7)(E) and (e)(2) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(b)(7)(E) and (e)(2), and 28 U.S.C.      

§§ 1391 and 1395 because this district is the nearest district to which the incident occurred and 

Defendant resides, is located, and is doing business in this district.  

THE PARTIES 

5. Plaintiff United States of America is acting at the request of the Coast Guard. 

6. The Coast Guard served as the lead federal agency that responded to the Shell oil 

spill at issue in this Complaint.  

7. Defendant Shell is based in New Orleans and was the owner and operator of the 

Green Canyon Block 248 subsea oil production facility in the Gulf of Mexico at the time of the 

oil spill in May 2016. 

STATUTORY BACKGROUND 

8. Section 311(b)(3) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(b)(3), prohibits the “discharge 

of oil or any hazardous substances (i) into or upon the navigable waters of the United States, 

adjoining shorelines, . . . or (ii) in connection with activities under the Outer Continental Shelf 

Lands Act . . . in such quantities as may be harmful . . . .” 

9. Pursuant to Section 311(b)(7)(A) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(b)(7)(A), “[a]ny 

person who is the owner, operator, or person in charge of any . . . offshore facility . . . from 

which oil . . . is discharged in violation of paragraph (3), shall be subject to a civil penalty in an 

amount up to [$46,192] per day of discharge or an amount up to [$1,848] per barrel of oil . . . 
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discharged.” See also 83 Fed Reg. 13826 (April 2, 2018) (updating 33 C.F.R. § 27.3 and listing 

these inflation-adjusted penalty rates for violations occurring after November 2, 2015). 

10. Civil penalties can be increased to a minimum of $184,767 per discharge and up 

to $5,543 per barrel of oil discharged pursuant to Section 311(b)(7)(D) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C.   

§ 1321(b)(7)(D), if the violation results from “gross negligence or willful misconduct.” See also 

83 Fed Reg. 13826 (April 2, 2018) (updating 33 C.F.R. § 27.3 and listing these inflation-adjusted 

penalty rates for violations occurring after November 2, 2015).   

11. Section 311(e) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(e), provides the United States 

authority to address situations where there “may be an imminent and substantial threat to the 

public health or welfare of the United States . . . because of an actual or threatened discharge of 

oil or a hazardous substance from a vessel or facility in violation of subsection (b).” 

12. Section 311(e)(1)(A) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(e)(1)(A), authorizes the 

Attorney General to secure “any relief from any person . . . as may be necessary to abate such 

endangerment.” District courts have “jurisdiction to grant any relief under this subsection that the 

public interest and the equities of the case may require.” 33 U.S.C. § 1321(e)(2). 

13. Enforcement of Section 311 of the CWA supports the national objective to deter 

oil spills and “to restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the 

Nation’s waters.” 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251(a), 1321(b)(1).   

FACTS 

 14. Beginning on May 11, 2016, Shell discharged crude oil into the waters of the Gulf 

of Mexico from a transfer pipeline at Shell’s Green Canyon Block 248 offshore system.  

 15. Shell’s Green Canyon Block 248 offshore system is an oil production facility 

located south of New Orleans and approximately 97 miles off the coast of Louisiana. At the time 
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of the oil spill, Shell was operating the facility under the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act. 

 16. The oil discharged from a 6-inch-diameter pipeline, known as the Glider #4 

jumper, used to transfer oil from a production well on the sea floor to a collection point. The 

pipeline is located at the sea floor at a depth of over 3,000 feet below the water’s surface. 

17. Shell discharged over 1,900 barrels of oil into the Gulf of Mexico. 

18. Shell’s night-shift control room operators observed the sudden and sustained loss 

of pressure on the pipeline, including receiving alarm warnings, beginning at about 11:11 p.m. 

on May 11. 

19. Despite the alarms and sustained pressure loss, Shell continued to actively pump 

oil through the cracked pipeline for at least another seven and a half hours. This was due in 

substantial part to Shell’s failure to provide adequate training for its control room operators.  

20. Shut-in operations did not occur until after Shell’s day-shift control room 

operators arrived on the morning of May 12. Controlled shut-in efforts began at about 6:40 a.m. 

and were completed by about 9:00 a.m. 

21. The pipeline cracked due to bending overloads placed on it as a result of Shell’s 

burial of a large portion of the pipeline with drill cuttings and waste cement following Shell’s 

drilling and installation of subsequent wells on the sea floor in the vicinity of the pipeline.  

22. Shell was aware of the partial burial of the pipeline but did not remove all of the 

added structural tension placed on the pipeline or maintain the pipeline configuration as 

originally designed and installed.  

23. Shell’s oil discharge polluted portions of the Gulf of Mexico from the sea floor to 

the water’s surface. Oil, including oil sheen, was observed over a large area around the spill site. 

The surface oil generally traveled west-northwest sweeping through an area of over 1,270 square 
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miles over five days. Oil was observed within 75 miles of shore before strong winds mixed much 

of the remaining oil into the water column.  

24. Shell, the United States Coast Guard, and the State responded to the spill, 

including use of mechanical recovery vessels and other assets. Active response efforts concluded 

on May 16, 2016. 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

Penalties and Injunctive Relief under Section 311 of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1321 

25. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein.   

26. Shell is a “person” within the meaning of Section 311(a)(7) of the CWA, 

33 U.S.C. § 1321(a)(7). 

27. At the time of the oil spill, Shell was the “owner,” “operator,” and “person in 

charge” of the offshore oil production facility, including the leaking pipeline, from which oil was 

discharged within the meaning of Sections 311(a)(6) and 311(b)(7) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C.         

§§ 1321(a)(6), (b)(7).  

28. Shell’s pipeline that leaked crude oil at its Green Canyon Block 248 subsea oil 

production facility is an “offshore facility” within the meaning of Section 311(a)(11) of the 

CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(a)(11). 

29. Shell’s Green Canyon Block 248 subsea oil production facility is an “offshore 

facility” within the meaning of Section 311(a)(11) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(a)(11). 

30. The spilling of oil from Shell’s pipeline at the sea floor constitutes “discharge” of 

oil within the meaning of Section 311(a)(2) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(a)(2). 

31. Shell discharged crude oil, which is “oil” within the meaning of Section 311(a)(1) 

of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(a)(1). 

Case 2:19-cv-00122   Document 1   Filed 01/08/19   Page 5 of 8



 

6 

32. Shell’s oil discharge occurred in connection with activities under the Outer 

Continental Shelf Lands Act within the meaning of Section 311(b)(3) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. 

§ 1321(b)(3). 

33. Shell’s oil discharge caused a sheen upon and discoloration of water surfaces. 

Thus, the quantities discharged were in quantities “as may be harmful” within the meaning of 

Section 311(b)(3) and (4) of the CWA. 33 U.S.C. § 1321(b)(3), (4); 40 C.F.R. § 110.3. 

34. Shell’s oil discharge violated Section 311(b)(3) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. 

§ 1321(b)(3). 

35. Shell is liable for civil penalties of up to $1,848 per barrel of oil discharged under 

Section 311(b)(7)(A) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(b)(7)(A), or, if it is proven that the violation 

resulted from gross negligence or willful misconduct, up to $5,543 per barrel discharged under 

Section 311(b)(7)(D), 33 U.S.C. § 1321(b)(7)(D). See also 83 Fed Reg. 13826 (April 2, 2018) 

(updating 33 C.F.R. § 27.3 and listing these inflation-adjusted penalty rates for violations 

occurring after November 2, 2015).   

36. In addition to civil penalties, the United States seeks injunctive relief to prevent 

future discharges of oil from Shell’s operations in the Gulf of Mexico. The United States seeks 

injunctive relief pursuant to Section 311(e) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(e). 

37. Shell’s history of improper operation and maintenance of the pipeline, including 

Shell’s continued operation of the leaking equipment for hours after the pipeline cracked, lack of 

adequate training of its control room operators, and continued involvement in the Louisiana oil 

and gas production activities in the Gulf of Mexico may pose an imminent and substantial threat 

of additional oil spills and injuries to the environment and to the public health or welfare. 

Corrective measures imposed by the Court are needed to assure proper operations going forward.  
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REQUEST FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the United States respectfully requests that this Court:

A. Enter judgment that Shell is liable to the United States for civil penalties pursuant

to 311(b) of the Clean Water Act and assess civil penalties of up to $1,848 per barrel of oil

discharged pursuant to Section 311(b)(7)(A), or if the violation resulted from gross negligence or

willful misconduct, up to $5,432 per barrel discharged pursuant to Section 311(b)(7)(D);

B. Enter judgment that Shell is liable to the United States for all appropriate

injunctive relief pursuant to Section 311(e) of the Clean Water Act and award injunctive relief

against Shell as appropriate;

C. Award the United States its costs of this action; and

D. Award the United States such other and further relief as the Court deems just and

proper.

Respectfully submitted,

FOR THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA:

BOSSERT CL
~~i~t t Attorney General
~~ir ent and Natural Resources Division
nite States Department of Justice

Jt~SON T. BARBEAU
Senior Trial Attorney, D.C. Bar No. 468200
Environmental Enforcement Section
Environment and Natural Resources Division
United States Department of Justice
P. O. Box 7611 Ben Franklin Station
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         Washington, DC 20044 
         (202) 616-8908 (Telephone) 
         (202) 616-6584 (Facsimile) 
      jason.barbeau@usdoj.gov  
 
 

PETER G. STRASSER 
      United States Attorney 
      Eastern District of Louisiana 

 
      BROCK D. DUPRE 

Assistant United States Attorney 
LA Bar Roll No. 28563 
650 Poydras Street, Ste. 1600 
New Orleans, LA 70130 
Office:  (504) 680-3005 
Facsimile:  (504) 680-3184 
Brock.dupre@usdoj.gov 

 
 
OF COUNSEL: 
 
LT Case Colaw 
Staff Attorney 
Eighth Coast Guard District 
500 Poydras Street 
New Orleans, LA 70130 
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